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May 5th /\ Hurrah for Oregon

Breakfust was vver by daylight, and soon our team were hitched to the
waggons, the stock was driven from the pasture and all was ready for the
start for the ferry acrofs the Missouri River. By this time a great many
of our old neighbors had cam in to see us off, and many of them accompanied
and assisted to the River, which was only five miles away. We had an

-
affecting time biddiny those o! our friends good by who remained behind, -
many tears were shed, but finaly the last farewell was said and off we f;
were to face the troubles and Lrials of a lung and tedious journey acrofs
a brning sandy Desert to Oregon. We arrived at the ferry about noon, we 2;

found about fifty waiting to crofs the river and only one boat that would
carry but two waggons at a trip, father and Lancefield volunteered their

help to the ferry-man which was a qreat help to him, the evening of the 8§b@
father proposed to hire the boat, and he and his crowd would crofs during";:/
the night as it was bright moon 1ight, he got the boat without éost. and

by morning our waggons and all the stock belonging to our little company was
safely acrofs the River. The next morning we mooved out to the~general
encampment. When all the emegrants have got acrofs the Company;was arganized

by electing Rjly Gragg of Platt Count Missouri Captain, my Father was electet

s

to be first Lieutenant or second in command. A Legislature was_elected of
which Father was member, this Legislature pafsed such laws or rules that
should govern the company while the shculd remain together. -Whil in this

camp I found a bee-tree, from which we got a fine 1ot of honey which was
divided among our friends.

Ay 2130 4 S

We 1eft the Rendavoose on the 11th of May. We had as gquide three Indians.
Remember, we crofsed the Missouri River four miles below the moﬁth of the
Nishnabolna River, about sixly miles above St. Joseph. There w@s no Road
leading from the point where we crost the River, therefore we Bﬁ would have
no Ro’d until we could strike the old Emigrant trai]’theroforeid vas
nccescarythatwo should have guides. W On the 11th we made the final

start on Teaving comp, we followed Lhe divide between the the big and little
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Namahas. This was the pretiest country T think T have ever seen, 2% far as

T
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the eye can reach in all directions it one Lrod expance of roling pararie
prairic, without a rock to be scen, and we found the grafs knee high, the
small streams on either side of us ran throug gooves of imber timber which
mad a landscape worthy the eye ofivﬂrtist. There were 12 waggons in train,
and two hundred headof Toose stock, and when on the march, we made a grand
aprearance. Our camp on the fifth was on the big Namgha, it was a tipcal
canping place, it was a slope of around a wmile from the dvide to the River,
evryboddy was happy until the next morninag, when it was 1light enoug to
decern as far off as the top of the hill, we discovered three men on the
high top appearantly taking a view of our encampment, but we soon learned
that they were our Indian guides, and that three race-horses belonging to
some parties in the Company was missing, and the guides were as was the
thieves and were camly watching us, to see how the whites wuld tak their
lofs, they did not have to wait lonu, for the owners were soon in pursuit
of them, but a mole migh as wcll try to catch a rabbit as for them to have
tried to catch those Indians, while chasing them about ten miles, they gave
it up as abad job. We on the same course until we pafsed beyond the heads of
the Namaha,s and soon came to the big Bluc River, here we waited for twelve
wagons that crotfsed the Misew} Missouri River at the Council Bluffs. The
firs night a this camp we had a terific rain storm, on our reaching the
river in the evening, we could have forded it casily with our waggons, the
next morning it was a raging torrent. While here there was quite an
excitemen raised im among the women on account of a fight that occured
between two boy,s. one by the Mame David Inglish who will at intervals in
the memoirs, he was a bully among the boys, always ready for a fight. My
first acquaintence with him was at our rendt vendevuous, he introduced
himself / emtying the water out of my huckets as fast i as I could Fill
them and set them ovey a fence that was built around the sring from which
we got water for camp use. Tt was a litlle unpleasant for both of us before
it ended. The other boys name was Caleb €arra Carriqger, they cot into a
dispute near the wagons when Inglish passd the lie, Carriger invited him

to qgo out of +iaht of camp and settie the matter.
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We was a little surprized at the chal1§inq“he knowing fretish to be a pul]y,
and much larger than he was, we all went to see the fun, there was a RLYQr
bottom about two hundred yards below camp, we weent went to this place and
formed a ring, the two boys striped and steped insid the ring, they spent
no time in shuking hands, but went for each ocher in good style, Inylish
was too much for the little fellow at knocking so the Carriger jumped and
caught Inglish by the hair and jerked hiw to the yround, he placed one of
his knees on his head and with one hand had him by the hair, he pounded
him in the ear until the blood flew in evry direction as the 1icks were
bestowed we was waiting for Inglish to call enough, but we found out
afterwards, he had left that word our of his catalogue, he never cheaped,
at this time, it looked like evry woman in camp came running on the battle
ground, Mrs Tnglish was in the lead cryingout, “they are killing my son",
of course, 2nthe appearance of the women the fight stoped.

Mrs | seeing me give Carriger his clothes said, "Henry Garrison you are to
blaim for this", T told her, maybe I was. The disput 8?1319%5%gd about,

whether 1 had been caught or not while playing baste, I had taken no part
in the dispute. This fight was the topic of conversation for the next three

days, or while we remained in this camp. The third evening after arriving

—_—

here the waggons spoken of above, we lecarnod the fact by noon of this day,

that they would be in that evening. The Captain asked father if he would

take some men and see if he could {ind ¢ ford where we could crofs the B4 BLve

River, he sent several men up the river, while he and another man swam
downstream for about two miles but no ford was found. A cuncil was then
held to consider ghexhex whether we should construct a rast and crofs the
river, or whether it would not be better Lo follow the divide until we
should strike the Platt River. Our guides were yon, and all we could was
to follow the general course until we would come to the Platt, then by
following up that stream we were sure to find to old emigrant Road leading
St Joseph. The conclusion of the councis was, that we would not crofs thé
River, but follow the divide.
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We got to the Platt River about the Gth of June, we struck the River about
ten miles below the Paunce Indians Village. When we arrived at the village
the / Indians showed an inclination to prevent us from pafsing throuy their
country, but by giving them a beef we were allowed to pafs on, but before
we got throug with them, we learned that all they needed was a chance,

to steal. 1 was driving the oxen hitched to our biq waggon as we called,
there was five yoke of oxen hitched to the waggon, I had-a-eap was wearing
a cap, and Indian boy as naked as he was born, walked past a me and taking
my cap off of

_— a\qqo(\ y

my head, and pliced it on his ow started to walk off with it, I let him

get to the length of my ox whip, [ then turned it's attention to him, the
seccond time I hitﬁfthe threw the cap down and scampered off, each time the
whipcracker (reachéd his bhutrtock, it split the hide, it was amusing to see

him jump.

The second day after pafsing the Indian village we came to the emigrand

Road at Ash Holler, that we camped on the Platt near an Island , my brother
David took a yoke of oxen and went acrofs, to the Island for wood, he left a
chain on the Island which was not mifsed until we went to hitch up the teams
the next morning, after the wagrqons left cawp, [ rode the horse over to the
Island to look after the chain, after looking for a half hour or more I
found the chain, I wound it around the horses neck and started on after the

train, soom A after getting into the Road, I agggeéved a man coming towards
me .

[ must go back a little. Several days before getting to the Platt River,
Father was taken to the waggon with Inflamatory Rheumatism, and before this
had become entirely helplefs, and as I was the aoldest of the fami]§f/rgggrything
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to Iook after, true I found a man by the mame of Joxh Fofs to help us along,
but hewas o poor werthlefs fellow and could be trusted for anything. The
sequel will show, I soon found I had a terrible burden to bear for a bet boy
of only fiften years old, now to resume.

k)
When 1 saw thengomlng I became alarmed, for he was riding verry very fast,
when he met me, he told me that my brother EFnoch had his leg broken. The
train had stoped lefs than a mile ahead, I got there as quick as the horse
carry me. As I was on my way to the waygon the thought came to me, what
was to be done for the bny, I then pledged myself, that if he got well, that
if it was necessary, [ would deprive myself of an educationaaand stay at
and wgrk, 3?h9 that he might acquire02eeﬁ. The first words father said
when I came up, was, Oh Henry, what shal we, do, I told him that we would
do the very best we could. At thattzyanther was not able to moove a joint
about him from his neck down, he was proped up in thewigonwasgeh so he could
see what was being done.  The accident had happened in this w

;se. Fofs,
had on severs several occasicns gien the boy the oxwhip, at and let him stand
on the waggon tongue and drive the team 3d while he would qo and talk with a
Mifs Wood daughtey of our old neighbor. EiliSpmonnang

with him about the matter, for fear that an accident might occur he promised
he would so nomore, Mother., being well acquainted with the young lady, Spoke
to her about the mater, the girl said she cared nothing for him, that she
would soon be married to Mr. Lee,a-veri (a verry promisinq younq man in the
company) and she only talke with Fofs to keep suspitkon down, and she

not talk with him any more. well that morning, it was the 9th of june, when
the waggons left camp that werming and had got in the main Road, he gave the
whip again to the boy and went a head to have a chat with Mifs Wood, she told
him that he should go back to his team, that Mrs. Garrison had spoken to her
about it, andihe had promised her that she would not allow him to neglect

his team to talk with he, he §aid it was none of Mrs. Garrison,s businefs

who he talked with. She to]d@?"that ewpqgrfo]ks was having trouble enough.
without them , any more anxiety, he, persisted in staying, she then started
to go back to our waggon herself, and before she qot to it the wggon wheel

droved into a rut and threw the boy from the waggon tongue and both wheels
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pafsed over his leg between the ancle and knee, mashing dound into a

rut eight inches deep, mashing the into small pieces.

TheDoctor asatwork fixing thesplint,tosettheleg.Twillsay here,

that thiswas theDoctor Woodthatstartedwith usfvromhome,and what he
knew about medicine he had just picked it up. and if w¢ there had not been
a am man along who had in Govermenta Hospital as steward it would been a
poor job. After seeing the conditiaon of the leg, I wanted the Doctor to
amputate it at the time, I told him that considering it mashed condition, and
the fact that 3¢ he would have to be hauled in the wagyon, and the weather
being so warm, that mortification would be shure to set in. He scolded me,
said I was nothing but a boy, I went to Father, he said he quef- the Doctor
knew best. We carried him for five day, Father and him laying side by side
in the same waggon. From the time of the acciden I never left the wagon
until his death, he would not alow me out of his sight, he said that was so
careful in driving as I was. The morning of the 15 the Doctor said his leg
would have to be amputated, we had taken him into the tent the night before,
after he was moved to the tent, he told me he wanted someone tp sing and
pray, I spoke to Mr. J D Wood, knowing he was a good singer, and had often
heard him pray in Misouri abut it, he called the attention of quite a number
or religious people to our tent and sang quite a number songs were sung
and prays were offered up for both Father a son, Mrs. Lancefield I think
offered up the best prays I eve heard.

By sunrise the next morning all preparations were mad to take the limb off,
Enoch poor boy had not slept for the last thirty hours. The o1dH°i2]td]Steward
had to do the work as the knew nothing about Surjury, the first attempt was
made Jjust below the knee, but when the knife was inserted it was fount that
mortification had set in, the limb was then taken off above the knee, when

the saw was applied to the bone, it was then found out that the thigh bone

was broken just below the hip joint. When the operation was over, he wanted

to see his leg, the Doctor told to wait just a few mintues and he should see

it, he saw his Mother standing by his side, he W¢ gave her his hand and said,

b




Good by Mother I am going to leaven, she said no! yot, he said yes, then

he gave me his hand could just articulate good by. tell Pa and rest and his

. . to . . . .
winged it way ~wherc there is no more broken Iimbs, neither is there any more

suffering. Yes he was at peace.

It was reported that the Indians was in the habit of digging Opening graves

for the purpos of getting shrouding, to prevent this, the grave was dug in
such a place that the wagons when leaving camp might pafs over it. [In
digging the grave, those who have it in charge was careful to cut and 1lift
the sod in squares so they coul be replaced when the was filled, before
commencing the grave, bed-quilts were pread on the ground to receive the
dirt as it w's thrown from the grave. Of course he was buried the evening
of his death, as the train had moove on the next morning, after the grave
was filled up, the sods were caretully replaced, the remaining dirt was
carried and thrown in the River. RevMr Cornwall conducted the funeral
services. When we broke camp next morning, the wagons 74 in number pafsed

over the grave, Fathers wagons was di'iven to one side and did not pafs
over the grave.

Up to this time the grafs had been fine, our stock had been gaining in
flesh all the time, but from here on, the grafs was not so good. About

the 20th our train had the first-split-up, some of those who were lighter
loaded than others, and as traveling on account of [ndians was considered
to be safe' concluded to drive ahead, about 25 wagors pulled from the train.
Our old friend Lancefield being one of them to leave. Father thought hard
of him for leaving when we were in such distrefs. At this time Father was
still unable to moove a joint in his boddy, and he thought Lancefield aught
to have stuck by him, and more especially as Father had loaned him moncy to
help him pracure an outfit for the journey.

We still found friends, (who had until on the Road had been strangers) to

help us along. The Captain was a big hearted man, evry evening and morning

he would call to see if he could render any assistance, evry marning he would

come to to know if a1} our stock was all right, oflen helping we to yoke our
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oxen and help hitch them to the wagon, Grather Qavid could not strong

handle the
enough to A yokes, and it kept me busy to get our teams rgidy

for a start by the time the vest of the train wuld be read for a start,

but it was not often that I was behind time. We now began to find Alkily,

When we aqot to the South fork
of the Platt, we found that it would be deep fording, we hed to put blocks

and some of the train was sick from its use.

betwee the waoan box and the bulster so as to raise the box above the water.

The boxes being raised so high, we had to Lic the wegon boxes devn to the
coupling pole to keep the water from floating them off.
safety, but it was a reisky buisnefs.

A1l got over in

After crofsing, our course was still up the Platt River, we stream coming
from the mountains, in them was the clearest of water, it was a treat to
us when we could camp on these streams, we had nothing but the sandy watter
of the Platt for so long, we had almost forggton what qgocd water was. We
are now traveling up the North Platt, in a few days we came in sight of
Court House Rock, or the might be properly called, Rocks. The particular
Rock that was called Court House Rock was about five or six miles to our
left, it was a hugh Rock towering above the surroundmdding hills, that
resembeled a very large building, but the whole country around ard was
nothing but a vast pile of rocks, you could see rocks in any conceiviﬁb]e
shape, thes rocks extended to the River, but we found a level road through
barring some bulders that would come near turning our wagons over, but the
pafs throug was so narrow and crooked at times you could not sce fity yards
a head of you. The morning before we pafs the rocks Dave Inglish while

we were driving up the cattle threw a buftalo,s head and il struck me in
the back and knocked me sprawling on the ground, when I got up and started
for him, he ran for their tent, [ found several women in the tent, and fd
left him, not caring to have a fight in the presence of ladies but when

he threw a buffalo ham and hit me in the back a few dys later, there did

not happen to be any ladies in the tent, I stoped there a short and left

fighting sent for
the Captain Garag Gragg and wanted him ta punish me for fighting, the Capt

told him he would do no such thing, Father said he would get someone else

9

satisfied fied. Father, during learned that [ had been

T ks TS b e
LA T L A AT e e

B T s b st B ot



/

to punilh me if he would not do it, this was the only time  had seen the

Capt vexed with my Father, the captain told him that I had a hard time, that
he had an eye on me all the time, and that he knew that I was always busy
looking after our stock, and the things in general, that I had to take a

mans place, he said to Father, you can be y up looking after your interes,

and because Henry has to do it, there are seme of the hoys that are jealous

of him and my Nephew, Dave Inglish is one of them, he said to him if Henry
dont take his part, that the boys would give him no peace, Father said, but

I dont allcw him to fight, then said, see here Garrison, you are unreasonable,

and the man that tries to whip Henry will have me to whip and left the wagon.

About this time we came to a large Creek called Cotonwood it was about
thirty yards acrofs, and the water about fifteen inches deed, I was then
driving the loose stock,(at that time we had a good hard to look after the
teams,)on coming to the Creek, [ took my mocahisins and socks, to wade the
stream. Israel Wood, Our old neighbors son about 18 years old wanted me to
carry him acrofs, he said T should carry him acrofs or he would lick me,
knowing he was able to do that thought the best thing for me to do was to
comply with his his request, so tW taking him on my back I started to crofs
withg him, when about halfway midway of the sream Perry Durban, who was
watching us from the far side made motions for me to duck him, thinking
that he would see me through allright [ thought T would have sowe fun, I
was holding his legs, I gripped them tight and fell backward, as we were
falling he lct qo of his hold an me and tried keep out of the water by putting
his hands on the bottom of the creek, of course I ygot ducked as well as he,
I jumped up and ran—for the shore he after me swearing he would lick H

out of me, Durbon wet him at the edge of the water and told him if he laid
his hards on me, he woud thrash him &h till his best girl would not know
him, so the nmatter ended. Abut this time, Mr Lee and Mifs Woord was married,
and their arrival in Oregen settled in Polk County where they grew up with
the country and became well off. About this time we pafsed Chimney rock,
we camped ncar it, and I thought go and take a look at it, it looked to be
close by, but it took me an hour to reach it, the rock stood entirely
seperated from all others. My regi]]ectiongfit is, the base covered about

an acre, maybe not so much, trom the yround to the chimmey propper I should

“



judge it be 50 ar 75 feet, there is loosce shale, that is very hard to
climb. | have heavd it said that no peo one had ever climed to the chimney
proper, that it could B¥ be reached an account of the loose rock. T under-
took to recach the chimney and succeeded in my effart, though T found that
it took hard work, I inscribed my name on the East side of the rock, or at

least my initials A.H.G and the date of the wonth and year.

A few days journey from this we no’ned at a large spring, the water was

8 or 10 feet deep in the spring, and there was quite a little stream
running from it, there was a big 1ot of suckers, (a kind of fish) in the
spring, quite a number of us boys tied lines with hook on our whipstocks

and was catching the suckers by hooking them, for they refused to take lait,
after catching a number of fish 1 laid my pole and line down to put my fish
on & hooked stick to keep them from becoming mixed with the rest, when I
looked for my pole and line it was gon, on looking for it, I found that
Dave Inglish was fishing with it, when I asked him for it, he declared it
belonged to him, and if 1 said it was wine, that I was a d--d liar. 1 did
not want to loose my whipsock, for I had fetched it all the way from Missouri
and 1 attatched to it. No, the d--d liar amounted to nothing, it was the
hickory whipstock that caused me to strike him, well we knocked each other
about for a whil, when we discovered there was another fight on hands, Daves
Father had come on the ground, and Martin lloover, the young man that was
driving one of our teams got on the ground in time to catch a club fem
Dave,s younger Brother,s hands who was in Lhe act of striking me at my back,
no sooner had Hoover taken the club from the boy, than Mr Inglish struck
him, Hoover was young, strong, and active, and itdidnot take mor than a
half minute for him I to do Inglish up, and he done him up well.

Shortly after leaving fighting camp we came to Larimy fork of the Platt,

we crofsed the stream and came to Fort Laramie, which is situated located
about one mile from the stream. It stands on a beautiful plain, from the
Fort you have a fine view of the snow caped Mountains, the country around
the Fort is so level, that you can see evry thing that goes on for miles
around. 1 heardéﬂ a man ask the person in charge, why the Fort was built

so far from the stream, he replied, it was built there, so it wuld not be

so liable to surprised by the Indians. He said, if you will look over there

in the North you will something mooving, ncw take this glafs and you will
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see that it is some persons driving in some horses, He said he knew thét
to he the case. or he wald send a man out to see what was geing on. At
this time, there we were bul few white wmen at the fort, abut 25 [ think,
there was no white women, but plenty of Squaws or Indian women. Those
swuaws that were living inside Lhe quarters were drefsd very fine.

heard a lady say that she did not think that the wives of those men at home,
was drefsed as well as their Squaws.

After leaving Laramie we pafsed the blick hills, over g high roling hills,
with many mountain streams that had their origin the Rocky Mountains, on
these streams we fount plenty of limber and yrafs. 1 will here say, that
one half of the time after leaving the Lamahas we were compelled to use
buffalo chips for fuel, many times have I seen 01d ladies who smoked

crrying fire from which they would light their pipes in dry buffalow

chips which would hold fire equal to punk. After pafsing the Black hills,
we came to the North platt. After leaving the Fort, we saw a great many
buffaloes, in fact it was seldom that we-were-eut-of-s they were out of our
sight. The evening we got to the River some men that was returning from
Oregon to the states, drove one into our camp and there killed, it was a

fine fat cow and we had a fine feast off of her. The driving of this
buffalo into camp caused quite a little excitement, there were some little
girls on a hill near camp and discovered the men as they were after the
buffaln, the cawe running into camp hallowing Indians, some of the men ran

to the fr top of the hill, and them just as they were disappearing in a

small hallow the had to crofs, the men ran back calling out, get ready for
the savaaes wuld be on us in a few minules, there was great excktement

until the buffalo and men appeared abut two hundred above camp on the River,
they had followed down the hollow, well might the men he mistaken, and taken
them for Indians, for they were all drefsed in bucksin clothing from macksins
to the hat wihich which was made of wheat. There were the first men that

any of had ever saw direct from Oregon, the land to wh;th we wer going, and
they were welcome visitors. They told us wondrous things about the land
from which they came. But that which interested us most, they were the barers

of a great many letters & Tather gol one from each of his Brothers that was

[



then in Oregon. They cheered us up, and we left that with great encouragement,
for our visitors held out great encouragements for us, and it was with lighter
hearts that we started on our journey the next day.

About the last night we camped on the south side of the River, just after
we had our oxen unyoked and turned out to gaze, we saw a buffalo coming
from the hills tu the River, all hands got their rifles and crept to where
the trail cam down a bank which ran along the edge of the bottoim on which
we we were camped, the Captain told us not to shoot her he either ef sloped
or turned to go back, but when the animal was about one hundred yards off,
someone fired awy at him, of curse that turned the buffalo back, we all
took a shot at him, the excitement was so great that not a bullet hit the
mark, a younqg man by the name of William Woods had started out to try and
ki1l an Antelope, he had stoped to see the killing, and as the buffalo was
running off he came in range of his gqun, he turned her loose at him and
broke a hind leq. Mr Lancefield, then turned his.bull-dog loose, and said
Take himqueen, and Queen did take himby the nose, and never let go until he
was killed by those who followed after him.

I will say here, that we had been having quite a good supply of fresh meat,
for it was not an uneme uncommon thing for some of the men to go out after
buffala, and bring it in by the horse load.

Now, let me go back to the tiwme we was on the hig Blue River. You will
recollect that was before we got to the big Platt River. The first morning
after we got Lo the river, a lot of us sarted out to look after the cattle,
when we got on a little rise a short distance from camp, we saw three ETk
standing on a vidge about a half wile off, boy like, 1 was carrying my rifle,
and it was the only one along in the crowd, some of the men wanted my gun,
but T told them no, so they all Lurned back for their quns, 1 went a little
to one sind and followed up a draw that camec from near the Elk, this gave

me about two hundred yards the star of thowe who had gone for their quns.

I made as good time as I could so as not to get out of wind, when within
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two hundred yards of the Elk, I had to lday down and cawl through the grafs,
S0 as not to be seen. Nhon(hpjgw”began tu yet prety close to me, I loaked
up and thaouqht that thO?ﬁQkWAR near enough, 0 1 pulled away at one of
thetamelk. When 1 wentﬁ?shoot, [ hgird some of the men say in a loud
whisper, dont shoot, dont shoot, bul it donc no yood, for that was what I
was there for. At the crack of my vifle, 1 saw the elks fore leg fly up,
but one or two jumps, and they were abl oul of sight, while 1 was loading
my qur qun, the men came up, and some of Them said, you played I when
we got to the top of the hill, Fxoxﬁ of the elk had crofsed the 14 holler

and was half way up the slope on the other side, while the other had not

got to the holler, a man came up at this timeOn aAhorse;he fo?]owedthen?]k)up
anrd and ki]]edi&before it got to the top of the oposite hill. When we got

to where the elk lay dead@ffound that 1 had broken one legi?dthe bullet had
pafsed through the brisket, and through the mussles of the other leqg. Then
the men said they was glad that I shot, for now we was shure of one elk
anyhow and if I had waited until all had I gotten up, we might have got
nothing. About this time, 1 felt that I was big as the bigest man in the
train, not excepting the Captain.

We continued up the River to the ford, we found it a very hard matter to
crofs, the River was very wide, and the ford was so crooked that it was hard
to follow , we all got safely over and camped on the North side of the River.
The next morning we were all turned around. All the way trom the time we
reached the Platt, we had been traveling on the lett side of the River,
consequently when we were facing it, the water ran to the right hand, but
this morning when we found it running to our left, we feil completely lost.
This was the feur fourth of July, and at sunrisce fireed o saloot of thirteen
guns. The saloot was fired in this way, there were two nen in the platoon,
and they loded and fired their vifles thirteen timesvfleyg‘ and at ecach volley
we would give three cheers. Of course this made a lot of noise. A company
of emigrants that was camped a short ways above us, nol thinking of the
Fourth, thought we were attacted by Indians. AL When we got to their camp,
we found them to defend their selves, when they found out their mistake,

we all had a good laugh. They concluded as they had got ready to burn
powder, they wuld not be disappointed, so theiren}jrecompany joined in

qiving a saloot for Independence day, and our cowpany joined them in the
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cheeriﬂg. We did not have far to M¢goboforo we came to the Swetwater, this
is a beautiful stream that flows from the Rockies, and the water is clear
and cold. We now bid yood by to the Platt with its sands, and its muddy
water. Here we found a man by the name of Tanner. he was sitting by the
Road with his beongings in a sack, he said the parties he had been traveling
was getting scarce of provisions, and they could not board him any longer.
As we had plenty of grub, and we thought that his help woud pay fer his way,
we to our sorrow took him in, for he prooved to be worthlefs, and the worst
of it was, we could never trust him.

I think it was about the 12th of July when we arrived at Independence Rock.
This is simply a legg ledge, or wountain of rock that runs down to within

a short distance of the stream. We rcmained here one day to give the teams

a chance to rest. Hoover Brother David and myself climed to the top of the
rock, my recollecton is, the rocky ledge was five or six hundred feet hig,

on top, it was quite level, after lookiny around as long as we wished, we
started to return to camp. After getting a part of the way down, we
dicovered a crevice that seemed to qo to the bottom, as we cculd see a
glimmer of light in the distance. We concluded to venture down, Martin
Hoover first, and David next, we had a hard time of it after going guide
aways down the crevice, we would have been ylad to have been on-top again,
but concidering it more dangerous to try to return than to keep on down, we
kept, some places, the chasm was so narrow, that we could scarcely squeeze
throug. I hink we must have been two hundred fcet high when we starded te
down the crevice. When we got to where if was light enough, we left our names
engraved on the left hand side as we went down. Below we found a great many
names engraved on the rocks, but I doubt not to this day, Jan 12th 1903, that
there is any names in that crevice than those of Martin Hoover, David Garrison,
and A.H. Garrison. When we returned to camp, and it had become know what we
had done, we got two free lectures, one from Captain Garaq Gragg, and one
from Father, we was more frightened after hearing of the dangers the lectures
cited than we was while creeping down the crevice. Just a short way above

Independence Rock, we crofs the Sweetwater and began the ascent of the



Rockey Mountains, leaving Hell qale, aboat hour JA miles to our right.

We have now left the SweetWater behind us, and are ascending a small stream

a mere springbranch, which leads up to the South pafs of the Rockey Mountains.
The ascent was so gradual, that we hardly realized. that we were gaining the
summit of the great historic Mountains that divid the watters of a continen,
from one side the water starts for the Atlantic, from the other side, to the
Pacific Ocean,s. We pafsed South Pafs, and started down a gently sloping
hill, the grade being so light, that we did not have to lock our wagon

wheels. That evening, we remembered that we had pai{sed over one side of

the Continent. and were jus at the ether edge of the other half. We realized
that we were then in QOregon Territory. This night we campe at the Pacific
springs, not more than a mile from the summit. You may judge of the Altitude
by the fact, that in attempting to stake out a horse, the man in trying to
drive the stake struck a rock as he supposed, he tried another place and

had no more succefs, the third trial p;ooved the same. A young man in the
Company, that was of an inquireing mind, took his spad and went to investigate,
and within a foot of the surface, he found ice, and after investigation,

it washﬁdfound to extend e} all over the flat. Father by this time was so

improved so much, thaf”EE_ESETa.agE—¥FSH‘€ﬁ§ wagon and sit in a chair by

the fire. No tongue what he had suffered up to this time, he lay so long

on his back, and the jolting of the wﬁgon wore the skin off of his shoulders,
back and hips so badly, that his whole back was almost in a solid sore, in
all his sufferings, he never murmered or complained to the best of my
recolection. TFor a long time we we expected him to die, but by Gods

providence he was spared to his family.

He, after his settliment in Yamhill County Oregon became a great factor in
the upbuilding of the society around him, and of the Teritory in general.

He lived to preach the Gospel of Christ for forty six years on this coast,
during of this time, he never received a cemt for his labors in the vinyard
of his Lord, but on the other hand, he gave thousands of dollars to the
Church, and for school purposses. W4hen gold was discovered in California,
/in 1848, he was one of the first to gu to the mines, he was quite succefsful
in the wmines. On his rcturn home, hgjpent quite a sum of money in the
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purchase of cattle and horses, he bought before stock had taken a rise,

and therefore done well. Althoug he sold thousands of dollars of produce

and stock yearly, he never tried to acquire a fortune, he gave all, above
what it took to support hi< family) to the Church, Schools, and the
upbuilding of the Country at large. And 1 say with pride, that the influence
he weilded in the early settlement of Oregon for good will bear fruit for
generations yet Lo come.  Would they his children would do likewise, fer My
Proverb is, 1t is better to do good; thd:to acquire riches.

After leaving Pacif ic Springs, there was nothing of interest transpiced
until we got to Sandy, this is quite a stream of water. Here my old friend
Dave Inglish turned up again, we nooned here, Brother David drove the oxen
to the stream, to give them water, it so happened as he was returning with
the oxen, Inglish met them in the trail and run them into the brush. My

Brother went around and drove them back Inglish had in the meantime rcturned

towad the camp,(a"d h1d/:n the blr‘USh)when the oxen came along he sprang 1nto

the trail and run them into the brush again, this too much f David though
he had ka no trouble with anyone up to this time, he turned the but of his
whipstock,-the same old hickory of old-and got one lick in on him when
Inglish ran & Just before this, as I was carrying a bucket of water from
the stream to camp, some one threw a stonefrom B?e flr‘Onthitting me a
glancing lick on the top of the head, the blow raised a Tump on my head as
large as a hens egg, if it had been an inch or two lower, it would have
undoubtely have killed me. [ did not seec who threw the rock, but thought
it to by my old enemy,(%sl could not identify the scamp, it had to pafs,
my parents advised me to keep a sharp lonk out and avoid him as much as
possible, seea us once more by and by.

From the Sandy, we pafed on to Grecen River. The night before we got to
Green River all the horses strayed from camp. Our train was now reduced

about fiftecn wagons. M "ka morning

'After the teams were hitched to
the wagons, the Capt took all the men but the Mr Woods, and Father, and
went in search of the Tost horses leaving the women and boys to get along

the best they could until they should rveturn. The men soon was on the
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trail of the horses, and did not vvertake until near noon. Hile we were
on the way, we was surprised to se a large party of Indians approaching

us from the rear, it was a war party of Crow Indians, there was about four
hundred of them. As we were traveling alony about noon and the Indians
all around us. I was eating some bread and wilk, the bread was crumbled

in the milk, an Indian rode up beside the wagon that T was driving and
made motion,s for wme to give him some of my dinner, 1 was in the front

end of the waqgan, T shuck my head, he kept crowding his haorse closer to
the wagon, and finally he reached forward andiped his hand into my cup

and scooped anrf out his handful and put it in his mouth, in reaching in,
he pulled his horse betwen the nigh ox and the wagon—tOngue, I hallowed

WO to the team and jumped out of the wagon, and turned the but of the same
old whipstock uvn him and laid on about f-half dozen licks befare he

could extricatehis horse from between the oxen. Oh how the Indians
hallowed and laughfed at him, amrd an old fellow rode up, and patted me

on the head, and said something to wme which 1 could not understand, but

I thought he that | was a brave boy, and scrved him right. We camped as
soon as we cawe to the River. After camping, we got vut our guns and
stood them by the wagons, and Mrs Lancefield (They having joined our
company again) got her sword she had brought from England, and buckeled

it to her waist. The Indians camped right by our side. By this time we
felt more easy. Father said, it they were hostile toward us, thcy would
have had all our scalps long before this time. When the men that had been
after the horses came in sight cf our cawmp, they was alarmed, for they had
Teft their guns with the wagons, but they were greatly rejoiced, when they
came up and found all hands safe. There was two Tittle jars during the
evening, one was caused by one of our men swapping horses with an Indian,
the Indian became dissatisfied with his trade, and wanted to swap back,
the man refused which raised a little excitemen among the savages, butourthe
Captain and others intervened, and forced the our man to comply, thether
other incident was A little girl stole a larqe string or roll of beads from
the only squaw that was with the Indians, the squaw came to our camp, and
when she got sight of the girl, she began to jabber, and made sides signes

until it was understood that the girl had solen something, the girl said she



had sotolen nothing, the squaw pointed to the girls neck, when her mother
searched her, she found the beads, she took them and gave them to the squaw,
then broke off a willow limb and gave her a god whipping, after the whipping

the squaw gave a grunt, and went of satisited. Therotl of)
weighed 5s.

beads would have

The next morning the red and while men seperated, each going their own
way rejoiceing, at least we rejoiced to think we had parted with our
neighbors on such easy terms, for they, if they had been hostile could
have massacreed our whole company. The next place of note was Bear River,
we lay by here two days, to let the oxen rest, the time was embraced by
the women to do their washing, it was a beautiful pace where we camped,
and the weather was fine. In fact, excepting two or three heavy storms
before we got to the Platt we have had good weather. At this camp I had
/my last encounter with Inglish, I with other boys had Leen fishing, on
returning to camp, I stoped to try and catch some large suckers I saw

in a deep hole of water, the others went on to camp, we had crofsed the
stream abe} above camp, therefore it was necessary to recrofs it to get

to camp, after 1 got through fishing I startedESford the stream just
opoaosite the camp, as 1 started acrofs, Inglish sthts from the opposid
shore, he pulled from beneath his vest, a long bucher kife and said here
you die, I droped my fish in the stream and stooped down and raised with

a rock in each hand I and told him if he did not leave I would send his
brains floating down stream, after swearing what he would do to me, he
returned towards camp, before he got to camp I overtook him, I told him

he had gon a Tittle too far,taathe had attemped my 1ife when he threw

the rock at me back on sandy, and that he had just drew a knife and swore
he he would kil)l me, and if you ever attempt from this time on to raise

a row with me, will kill you, T told him Lo remembr what 1 told him,
Just themsowe one said, what is this I hear, and the Captain (his uncle)
came out of the brush, 1 told him about the trouble, Inglish said that

I was lying. The Captain said he wanted us hoth to come along with him,
he took us near Mr Inglish,es tend and called him out, we went to one side,
then the Capt told what he heard me say, and that Dave denied its being true,

Mr Inglish said he would soon learn, he searched and found the knife in his
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sons bosom.  The men were hoth mad, and 1 soon saw that [ had raised quite
a breeze, and 1 felt a Tittle alarmed, but did not what  was alormed at,
the men told us hoth to stay where we were and they took a few paces from
:s an talked in an undertone, we could not hear what they said, but T saw
that thex kept looking me, and as the Capt had just heard me tell Dave I
would kill, I did not know just how they would settle it. After a while
(which seemed ages to me) the called to them. About this time Mother
started to come to where we were talking, the Capt asked her to return

if she pleased, that I was in sase hands and that that he would inform
hera“d Mrlafrrison)a]] abcut 1t, Mother returned to camp. The Capt then
caid that I had donewrong to threaten Daves 1life, he said I had aught to
have went to Father. I told him that evryboddy in the train knew how

he had been 1mposing on me,axdl knew that Mr Inglish had tried to have

him let me alone, but that Dave did not care for what his Father said,

Mr Inglish said "I will settle it now, and forever". He said if he could
do no bettler he would keep him chained. The Capt Mr Inglish and dave tood
a walk down the River, but the Capt asked me to say nothing to Farther and
Mother dboxt matter until he saw them. When they returned the Capt came
to our tent, he and Father and Mother went into the tent and I suppose the
Capt told them all, Mother afterwards told me that Cant said I was not to
blame, and she guefsed that Daves Father had whipped B him nearly to death.
T know that for a week he rode in the waygon, whether it was for punishment,
or from the fact, theat he had been punished, I could not say. I will now
finish up the career of David Inglish as far as I have learned the facts.
[ think the family went to California. At least I heard nothing of him
until T heard of his operations in Eastern Washington and in Idaho, 1
learned that he had become a notorious gambler and thief, and that he
withe two others took to highway robery and murder, that he was altogether
a very bad man. When [ was in Lewiston Tdaho in 1885, a man pointing to

a rafter in a barn and said that he saw David Inglish hanging from that
rafter, and hisﬁyopartners, hanging in two other rafters in the same barn,
and at the same time. If is a matter ot history, that David Inglish, and
his two partners were hing hunq in the early seventies by the Vigilant

Comitty,dt l'(\\‘m’{'on)for murder, committee on the high Road of Idaho.



From Bear River we pafsed through a beautitul country until we got to Fort
Hall. This was the first place [ over Camanded by British suwj subjects.
Ye spent about an hour on this fort, and wooed to a camp five miles from
the Fort. We intended to layby here, hut as the grafs was poor, we
continued on tho Snake River, we tollowed down this stream to the where
the Oregon, and California seperate. Here we met a party of twelve men
from Oregon, Jessie Applegate was the leader or Capt of the company.
Mr Applegate informed us that he had explored o new road to the Willamette
Valley, that it was a shorter, and wmuweh a great deal better rout than the
old cne down Snake River that we would save the fording of the Snake twice,
they represented these fords to be very dangerous, they were so bad, that
quite a number of had been drowned while attempting to ford the River.
And by going their rout we would save the crofsing the Cascade Mountains,
which was represented as beingivery dificult undertaking, After consultation
those of our Company that were going tn Greqon, concluded go the southern
rout as it was called. Our company was about equally didvide diveded, one
half for California, theother for Oregon. We now left the Oregon Road,
which followed down Snake River. We realized that we were a little late.
and it was necessary that we should make as good speed as possible, so we
traveled as fast as possible so as not to break our teams down, our teams
at this time was getting quite thin. -Father was at this tiwe able to
sit in the waggon, and drive what we called, the family wagon. Thiswifgreat
encouragement for us, as Martin Hoover lay in the other wagon sick with the
Mountain or Tyhoid fever. We had a quist trip to the Humbolt River. Here
we had to renew our dilligence. as the Indians began to show up very bad.
We had no trouble yet, but we often got warnings left us by those a head,
Leok out for the Indians. These warnings was generally left written

hich our ontkeo1d weather beaten %iulls of cattle thad died years befer.

ost office Our company had stood guard since leaving the Pawnee Nation, but now we
had to kecp close watch or we would soon have been left without teams.
We found the Humbolt, to be quite a Hubug, sowme times we found plenty of
water in the stream, and some time, its bed would be as dry as a squerhou
powder-house, [ remember one evening we had Lo travel till very late to
find water, and when we came to where it rose to tlie surface again, it
afordedenough water to have suppied two or three mills. Just before we

let't the River as it was called, one evening after camping, we dicvered

2.0



a horse away tuck in a big thd of the River, two men got on their horses
and went after the horse, just before ygetting to the horse they dicovered an
Indian, he happened to expose himself Lo view, the men turned instantly for
camp, when they started for camp the Indians showed themselves. The Indians
was too far off to do any execution, but their positon was between the

camp andtxesetting sun, and those in camp could see the Indians arrows
skipping'throuqh the at the men Tike mosquitos hawks. One horse was hit

by an arrow in the hind quarter, from the affects of which he died about a
week afterwards. We are now at the place where we must lTeave the California
Road, it is just a short wa distance above the sinks of the Humbold, here

it is/pretty near dry, we arrived here about noon, those of us who was going
to Oregon went into camp, those who was on their way to California bid us
good by, and went on for a better camping place. When it came to the parting
hours, there was some tears shed, Captain Gragg here bade us qood by.

Father was then was then chosen Captain of the little company that was left,
for it luoked small after division.

Chap death of Hoove

Acrofs the desert, lofs of cattle, an Indian killed

Tanner killed by Indians. Clameth lake.
and-te-Regue-River

B —

After fil]ing‘al1 £ mya}lkegs a1} full of water, we started acrofs the
deserct. 45f15%ee"mi1es form the humbolt we came to the Willow springs,
there was two places where the water oozed from the ground in a rocky qulch,

Father had gone ahead to try to save all the water he could, he carried a

large bucket with him, and when he came to the springs, he 1illed his bucket,
then ne damed up the springs so as to secure all he could, after this being
done, he rod back to the train and ot anather bucket of which also filled,
this gave him about eight gallons of water, he remained at the spring to
prevent the dams from giving away un the wagons arrived; Sister Martha

had been waiting on Hoove from the first of his sicknefs. About an hour
before the wagons got to the springs, she junped on the wagon tonque, and

asked him if hatfwanted anything, he said no, she wanted to know if he did
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not want some water, as he had Leen drinking a «ed great deal, he said no
Marthy, he said, you have been good to me, and 1 hope you wont forqget ae me;

as soon as the wagon stap at the springs, she went to his wagon and spoke to
him, but he gave her no answer, she saw that his eves were open, and not
knowing what to do, she poke to David, when he looked in, he saw that he was
a copse. He went and told Father. As we had already entered the desert,
there was no time to loose. so0 grave was dug, then first winding a sheet
around him, then wrapphn]XB buffalo robe, we put him to rest. It was the
best we could do.

The water was put into vessels, and just before starting whis was ahout
10 p.m. it was divided as me near equal as possible among the work oxen.
We were now just as we stated from home as regards to the compuny, thére
was the tweo Woods families, Mr Lancefiends family and my Fathers family.
The only death in our little company to this was, my Brother Enoch,s, and
none of had left a hoof of our stock, so we had fared well excepting the
death spoken of. As soon as we started firom Willow springs, HMr-Seett,

~ Lancefield,eur-pilet went a head to the Rabbit springs something eighteen miles ahead,

id two

hers went

these springs was some holes dug in the ground, appearently by rabbits,
the men carried buckets with them, but when they got to the spring they
found that a team nad just left, and therc was but 1ittle water there.

The men staid by the water until the wagons get came up, the water was
immediatly divided as before, the cattle was turned out to rest, and to
get something to eat if possible. The wen who had went ahead, as they

had had a little sleep remained awake to keep the stock from <traqqling,
the rest of us got what rest we could, b+t but after halting about one
hour, it was thought best to pull ahead, as thecékt]ewas so restlefs

that tho we thought they had spend their strength in advancing than in
roaming around, sa so by 11 a.m. we were on our way again & by the middle
of the afternoon, we began to find dead cattle, and some that had given
out and was lef to die. Oh, what suffering we now experience, hoth man
and beast was famishing for water. As the sun went down, a cold wind came
up which gave us a little relief, but still the horrible thirst continued
by this time the water we started from the Humbold with was all exhaur&edSted'
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About 18 ten oclock in the evening, Mother gave me a buckel and told me

to try anget some milk. by driving the a cow a head, would have time to
milk her by the time the loose cattle would be pafsing, T done this wilh
five or six cows, and as one of them was fresh, 1 got about one gallon and
a half or two aallons of milk, as Lhere was only c¢ight or ten children in
the company, they had all the milk they could drink, and there was enough
left £ so that the women folks got enough to give them a great relief.

We arrived at the hot springs about three Oclock the next morning.  VWhen

we arrived athe spring, we could hardly keep our oxen from runniny right

in to the boiling water. We found here about thirty wagons that had arrived
about six hours ahead of us. This was Captain Vanderpools company, and

the men knowing by experience what trouble we would have, in keeping our
€all cattle out of the hot water came to our asstance, we drove down the
branch, possbly a mile before we came to where the water was cool enough to
use. Here we joined Mr Vanderpols Company, /we lay here all of that and
the next, some of the women went to the hot spring, and done their washing,
the water being hot enough to do the washing without fire.

My Mother to a scvere cold while pafsing the desert which threw her into

a fever. We now had several Doctors along, and they all had their hands
full, they attended the sick without charge, Mother was confined to the
wagon until we crofsed Rogue River. Father secured the services of a widow
to wait on Mother, and do the cooking. As she was destitute and had a

cirl twelve ycar old, she was gbid of the chance to work for their passages.
We left this camp, and went a short distance to a small creek and camped
for the night, the next day, we drove a few miles to there there was plenty
of water, wad aRd grafs. It done us good to our cattle mowing down the
rich bunch grafs. Here we found another company of emigrants, they were
waiting for reinforcement as they were afraid ef their force was too weak
to venture farther on account of the hostile atitud of the Indians, the
same evening we arrived here, another small company came in from acrofs

the desert, we lef this camp we were about nine¢ty wagon,s strong, and a
force of not lefs than a hindred men capable of bearing arms. le were now
traveling over a high plattau that is covered with f a fine forest. and

the whole country is a vast bed of volcanic rocks. The timber was clear
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of underbrush, as we had but little trouble clearing out the road, This
road was terrible hard on the cattles feet, and also on the wagons. We
wer about two days traveling over this rough country, it was a very level
country. When we left this God forsaken pile of rocks, we entered a Canyon
such as we had never seen. The entrance to this Canyon was through, or
down a crevice, it was so steep, that a great many chained logs to their
hind axeltre in order to hold their wagons back, we all got down without
any 1 great casualities. When we got into the canyon proper, we found a
fine stream of water meandering through it, here we camped for the night,
we found the watcr the very best, and plenty of grafs. The walls of the
Canyon was perpendcular, and from five hundied feet, to onc thousand feet !

high, and the bottom was from a few yards to a quarter of a mile wide,
and fine grafs all theﬁzythruw.

Fhe-next-day-we We traveled all the next day down this what we called,

a natural road, and from recolecton, it was a natural pafs through a
mountain, we camped the second night in the Canyon, When we pafset out
of this pafs, we lelf Goose lake to our right, crofsed Goose Creek
Mountain and camped on tesfs Lost River, the first night we camped on
this stream, the Indians stole about eighty head of cattle from the
company, they drove them to the natural bridge and crofsed the river,
from there they went into the Mountains. A party of about forty men
followed them the next day, they found wherzs three head of cattle had
been killed,is the men returned that night without seeing an Indian.

Now [ will of an occurence that took place on the River near camp. There
were two Brothers in the Company, one of them was a single man their
names [ haveLa}ﬂroforgotten for whichr 1 am extremely sorry. Well, the
single Brother and 1 was out {ishing, we were probably o wile belew
camp, and sat down in the shade ot a /willuw, he saying, now Henry,

keep quiet and we will kill an Indian, he was sitting to my left, asfter
sitting still for quite a while, 1T therethgfghtwas a fish biting at his
hcok,, on 1ooking around I saw an Indian just in the act of daying down
to get a drink as I drew my gun around, he wispered, what is it, I pointet

to the Indian. he said, hand on, then he raised his rifle and fired while
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Death of Mfs
Crowley by

the Indians,

?his fe]1ow\

i the [dién was{'” the act U')drinking, The Indian made ane dive, and when he

; vas supposedicame up, his boddy sked shot half his lenqth out of the watter, then sank
;&E\Ee a Spy.)and raised tn sight no more, he stole no more cattle.

Leaving camp next morning we were soon at the natural bridage, this is the
only place know where this stream can be forded. At this place the water
runs over a reef of rocks, the came to the hubs of our wayons, the stream
was about eighty yards wide, and very swift, the run is about sixty yards
long, above and below there was but little current perceptible, this showing
the water was very deep, for, the width, depth, and the swiftnefs of the
wdater at the ford, showed there was a great volume of water in the river,

we had some trouble in crofsing as the ford was full of boulders, making

the croosing very difﬁicu]t. It was near noon when all had pafsed over

the River, we startedimmeilat61yto over a very high ridge for Clameth lake,
it was about three miles to the sumuit of this hill, it was not so exceedingly
steep, but very tiresome on the oxen, thc geing-dewn descent was about the
same as the ascent, it was after dark when the last wagons got to camp.

When all was in, it was then discovered that Mr Tanner was mifsing, he was
seen by several of on this side of the river. A party went back to the
river in search for him, but did not succeed, ihe next morning David Guthrie
and others returned and found him within half mile of the river, his track
showed, that he had came in to the road about two hundred yards from the
ford, appearently he ran quite a distance, then he walked until he fell in
the road, there was the tracks of two Indians, one on each side of the road,
they kept in this position until Mr Tanner foll, then they went to where

he lay, lifted him out of the road, then they /draged him about thirty yards,
then stript of his clothes and left him, he had, nine arrows shot into his

bodcy. The men went provided with tools, they hurried him where the found

. him. Mr Tanner was subject to fits, and we suppose that he having one,

was the cause of his falling behind. On leaving this camp at Clameth lake we
crofsed the river bearing the same name, and moved on to the Siskiyou
Mcuntains. Knowing that we would have the road to open acrofs them, men had
\been senl ahead, and by the time our wgons arvived, the road was ready f us

Indians attact/ to cofs over, we had to wake one dry camp in the Mountains. On leaving the

he cattle

Mountains, we came to the Rogue river valley tal at bear Creek, here we camped,

rofsing Roguy then crofsed a beautiful prairie to the Royue River. The night we camped at

River Indiip

/ rockey point, an Indidn shot Mifs Lclan Crowley with a poisoned arrow, Mifs

Crowley was siting by the fire baking bread when shot, the Indian must shot
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from the Mountuin side which was ¢lose-by, as we had out a stray guard. The
arrow was extracted, hut no precuticns were taken in recard to poison as we
4id not know ut the time, thad poisoned arrows was used, The next morning,
after the wagons left camp, the Indians on our loose stack, as it happened
thad none of those who was driving the cattle had their guns. I happened to
be on the sid next to the train, on secing the Indians, T rode foraward at
full speed, and as  pafsed the wagons hellowed Indians. The cry was taken
up by the teamsters, and by the time 1 was reached the front, the Mr Scot,
our pilot was forming a corall, a company was soon formed and returning in
double quick time to the scene of troubtle, but the Indians hed simplv ran
up to a cow filled her full of arrows, and then mad their escape.

From here we went down the river to the ford, near where Grants Pafs is
located. Before we got to the ford, Captain Vanderpool took fifty men,
and went a hecad of the wagons to Took out the ford, and to clear it of
Indians if there should be any there to give us trouble in crofsing the
river. On coming to the ford he divided his men. sending one party
acrofs the river, wt while the rest reained behind to give the avacing
mwen protection if need be. When the was approaching the far bank, the
Indians showed themselves but they done 4 no damage, as they were driven
back into the woaods by them who remained behind. When all had crofsed
the river they scoured the thoroughly, but no Indians could be found, but
blood was found, showing some of the savdges did not escape with a whole
hide. The men remaned and held the ford until all was over. After crofsing
the river we mad camp, Father was placed out the guards, after doing so,
he was going around the guard Tinc, when he heard a gun fire, and a man
began calling fr help, Father ran, gathering the men on quard as he went
as was soon at the scene of trouble, as he got there quite a company of
men arrived from camp led by the Captain.. The trouble was this, Mr Pool,
the man was in frouble had sat down by the <ide of a biq loq, while so
sitting he saw an Indian put his head from behind a tree and shot at it,
as soon as he hig fired, he dicovered thore were Indians all around him,
he threw himself under the loq, and raised the shout for help, it was

luckey for him that the savages did not vush on him, they contented
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themselves by shooting arrows at him, but as where the around was deﬁrefsed,
they shot their arrows in the loa above his boddy. As the men appached the
savages ran, and when the savaqge that Pool had shot at, all that could be
found of him, was a lot of blood and brains that was where he had fallen.
From her to Grave (now Feland) Creck Mifs Crowley died from the affects of
the poisoned arrow, frome here to Cow Creek, where the savages made a
slight attact on the camp, they shot a few arrows into camp, but a few
volleys from our rifles into the woods silenced the, but they kept sh such
a whooping and yellina a short ditance from our camp, that there was but
little s1eep1’ng]n Eampthat night, Fromehgreour next camp was near the

head of the Umpqia Canyon, we was at this camp about one week, Uncle

Joseph Garrison Garrison met us here with horses 1oaded with provisions,
which was a God send to the emigrants. Provisions was very scarce, some
families by this time was neav%yenFlre]yout. We strted from here with
enough provisions as we supposed to last the famity up to Aprile of the
next year, Father weighted out before starting a pound of flour per day
for each one of the family, both large and small, for the lenathe of time,
but as the emigrants would get out of provisions, he would divid with them,
and for some days, he could only divide with the sick. I will speak of an
incident that occured in this relation, it was this. There was a widow
lady along with an only son by the nane of Beaucham, (and by the way, she
was an Aunt of my wrthy friend, Dave Inglish) to resume, the widow had been
out of provisions for sometime, Father had been de furnishing her for

some time, and to make it more convenient for all cocerned had Ashley,

her son, to keep immediatly behind our wayon. The morning we left cow
creek a Mr Andrew Davidson drove in the train behind our wagcn cutting
Aih]ey out of his place. Ashley drove up and claimed his position, but he
being only a boy, and Davidson being a little crofs refsed him the place.
J.D. Wood an old man of about 55 year<s, seeing the trouble came and asked
Mr D to drive aut and let Ashley have his place, but D refused, then the old
gentleman started to turn Ds team out of Lthe way, so the others team could
come to it, Mr D, being a young man, and a fighter from away back, jumped
an on the old man to give him a Ticking, but; when the fight was over, and
D had g?tten on his feet., with one eye gouged half out, and his face badly

)
mashed, he said, I am as weak as water, the old man had came out without a
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scratch, Ashiey got his place. to resume, when my Uncle met us, we had
only abot the pounds ol floueF; left, Uncle met us theQﬂgbeforelthe wagons
was to start down the Canyon. On the next morning an a man by the name of
Albright whome my Uncle had hired to help him with the pack-horses and 1
started down the old Hudson Bay trail (which we had followed from the

time we first reached the Rogue River valley) with Father,s loose stock.

[t was evry man for himself now, as it was supposed that we had pafsedbeiend
all danger from the Indians, we yot through with the cattle the first. My
Mother had baked us, what she supposed woud be bread ewmough to Tast us
until the waqggons would get through the mountains. After we had caten supper
and was ready to go to bed, I said to Albright, what shal we do withe the
saddle bags. (our bread was in the saddlcbaas) I told him that our bread
would be stolen, he told me to give the bread to him, he would put it

under his head, and said the Devil himself coud not get it from under his
head. But dredful to relate, next morning, the saddlebags wuy laying at

the head of our bed without a crust in them, the bread was all we had to eat
until the wagons should get through, how long that would be, we did not know.
I took a cup and milked a cow and that was my breakfast. Albright said he
would go fishing, took my qun, and climed to the top of a hill the i bottom
of which was about a quarter from camp, when }-eet I got to the top of the
hiH,(l tslt)my old friend, the ague, coming on me, (I was having a chill
evry qiy regulary) so I sit down on the sunnyside of a big pine tree, to
have my chill out. White sitting there chilling like a good boy, I saw
seven deer coming towads me, I just lay down behind the tree and waited
until the deer would get close enough for a shot at them, I thought they
would never come closenough, they was taking their time walking a little
way, then stop to browse, but all things has an end, at last they stoped
within about forty yards of me, I had selected a ¥ very large buck for my
meat, and when he stoped that time, chot him, he was standing by a tree,
at the crash of my rifle, he turned avound the ree, and ran close by /me,
as he pafsed | saw the blood running ovut of the bullet hole, he had but a°
few jumps to make after pafsing me untill I¢ he starded down the hill
towards the cawp. 1 looked and sawél]handﬂ waiting, the most of them
had their quns, but they got no shot, for the deer fell dead soon after

striking the flat, whenwéinl got dewn the hill, the deer was drefsed and
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this deer
on the 2d

of November
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birthday

quartered, I picked up a hind quinter and told the to help themselves but

iT I knew who stole my bvead, he should not have a hite of the venise. From
that time on we had all the meat in camp needed, and quite a quantity was
sent back to those who were with the wayons, we was in this five des bhefore
a wagon came in sight, Father was the fifth to arrive at our camp.

Chap My Mother leaves withe small
children, The comitty

My scare by the Indians, A man killed,
an honest savaae

After a dys rest for my mother, Uncle Joseph started for his home on the
Missou farm eight miles below Salem, withe him, went my Mother and P four
children, they rode the horses that Uncle had packed the provisons on.

The next FatherézdLancefield was ready to start when a Committy waited on
Father, and informed him, that the emigrants had had a meting at which

it was decided tc kill thos fat oxen, (meaning a yoke of oxen brought out
by Uncle Joseph to asgsist us to the settlement) Father stept to his wagon
and pulled out his vifle and <aid, Gentlemen, this is highway robery, that
those oxen is my main dependence to get to the settlments with, and I dont
want to anyboddydtgemptshoot them down, for I will defend them, if you
wish me to give you a beef, tak any of any cattle but a work ox, they the
selected a cow that belcnged to me, and a man by the name of Thos Steward
shot her. Alhough he and | lived neighbors for near thirty years 1 never
could forgﬁt that he shot the only cow I had, when at the same time, he

and his folks ha twice as many cattl a Father had, The good book says,
"pay for those that dispitefully use you I neve could, for the same book
says, "He that is unjust, will be unjust 52111”. After the killing of my
cov, we left then. In about six or eight miles we came Lo the South

Umpqua and forded, it was a rough crossing on account of bowlders, from
there to the foot of Roberts Hill, we having plenty of teams went up the
hill allright though it was very long and steep, after we 9ot to the top,
father told me to tak three yoke of oxen, and go back and help Lance(ield
up the hill, (we had been assing him along for the last two or three weeks)
when T got down the hill Lancefield B had his oxen unyoked and told me to
qgo back and tell Father that he was killinq his team trying help him along,
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foraot to

53y, as we
i were ahead
%of this un-
ifortunate
Zumn, we did
‘not hear of
it for sev-
eral diys
after it

happened

and for him to go ahead, that he would leave his wagon and pack in on his
cattle, I told him that Father would come down himself after him, he said,
tell him that it will be of no use, for his mind was mad up, so we left

him, that night we camped where Roseburyg now stands., That nightaman and
his wife was camping about a /mile from us. it was where the road came down
the hill spoken of, and came to the creek, they had a horse tied out close
to their camp, sometime during the night he heard his horse make a noise,

he raised his head to see what was wrong when an Indian shot him through the
head, the blood flying into his wifes face. This was after we had pafsed
(as we suppnsed) all hostile Indians. The next day we furded the North
Umpqua and drove to a small stream and camped, The next morning some of
our cattle was missing. My Cousin Jeptha Garrison (who had met us at the
mouth of the Canyon with fifty pounds of flour, and I went to hunt for them,
I crofsed the Creek and lollowed up the stream, Jeptha went up the Creek
from the camp. In abut a mile from camp, 1 came to where the 01d Hudson hay
trail crofsed the creek, here I re recrofsed the creek, the banks were

very steep, when at the my mare stoped and drank and as she sarted up the
bank, an steped out of the brush and caught my bridal reins and said, get
cown or you dead boy. 1 saw that he had an old Hudson Ray hucher knife in
his hand, the bAade of which was Len or twelve inches long, the only thing

1 had to defend myself with was a riding switch, my mare was high f31 lifed,
giving her a kree keen cut with the switch she plunged ahead up the hill, as
I was gining the top I saw my Cousin but a short distance off and hallowed to
him, calling out Oh Jep, come quick or he will kill me, the savage f kept
his hold on my bridal until my mare pulled him to the top of the hill, then
seeing Jeptha coming to my relief let go the bridal. As wmy Cousin came up
he said John, then spoke inﬁgeChanok langue, after talking & few minutes he
gathered up ¢ club and striking him on the head knocked him down; then we
left him, there were two other Indians along, but they, neither done or said
anythind. While going to camp Jeptha told me that he knew the Iadian well,
he had been to school at the Mithodist Mission,andthat he belonged to the '
Church, he said the Indian told him that he had a close tumtum,-a good heart-
and that did not intend to hurt me, that he only wanted to scare me. 1 have
no idea in the least but what the Indian intended to have my horse, and have

got him, bat but for the luckey, or as my Father put it "Povidential"
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appearance of my/cousin: from this camp we followed the old trail to the
Callapoosa Mountains, Here we had to call another halt, as the road had

to be cut over the mountain, Mr Aplegate, when he left the emiqrants whome
he had succeeded in turning on to his rout had promised to secure men, and
open up the road for us, but he failed to keep his promise. But when we

got a crofs the Calapoosa Mountains, we found a trading post, which he had
established in order that he might bleed the poer starving emiqgrants out of
the Tittle money they might have with them. One of his sons who had
seperated from his wif, was asked if he intended to get a divorce, he said
no, that the Applgates were an Historic famity, and he would do nothing

that would bring a smirch on their record. What sort of a record did 01d
Jessie make <elling cheese for one dollar a peound to his poor de]udgd
starving emigrants, and other provisions at the same ratio. Historkc

family Yes. An Emigrant of 1845 told me, that when he got to Polk County,
-or rather)we got in that Neighborhood he went to Applaate to get a beef
animal fo his family, he offering to makewhe'had;se-MG"eyrai15 for the

beef, having no money, Applegate refused him, saying e must have the money
for his beef. Yes, 1 agree with youny Appliegatle, theirs is a historic family
and if the records of the Infgrna] rejons should be searched their history
would be found em-it filed enl?its records. About the first of December, we
landed in the Willamette wall. Our waggen waqgon was the first to get acrofs,
so we can claim that Father,s wagon was the first thet ever Crofsed the
Calapoosa Mountains and the first that ever mad a track in the upper
Willamette valley. The first sign of civilation we saw was at Skinners Bute,
(now Eugene City) Mr Skinner had built a hewed log house but was not covered
as yet. It was now raining nearly all the time, the steams was all full

from bank to bank. Before getting to Lantom we found miles upon miles of the
country covered with water, with an occa%;onal rise in the ground which
looked 1ike Islands situated in a sea of water. Just gfter pafsing Skinner
Bute we met Uncle Enoch Garison walking, and leading a horse packed with
povisions. You see by this, that our relatives who came to Oregon in +849—
had not foryotton us. First Uncle Joseph, then Cousin Jeptha then his
Father, My Uncle Enoch, cam to our relief. It was about 10 Oclock AM when
Uncle met us. Father was driving the team, when they met, they kifsed each
other, then Uncle turned and and walked side by side, Jeptha said for half
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re our
ok left us

of a mile without cither speaking Blubering like calves, [ suppose it was
an effpcpinu meeting.  The Tast time Lhey were Logether, their Mother was
with them, and you can imagine what thought< came surging to their minds.
The next morning after Uncle Enoch arrived, Cousin Jeptha and David my
Crather started for home as we beqan to call Uncle Enochs place.  We now
felt that we were homeward bound, a tew more days, and our journey wculd
he ended.  The next place of notewas the Long Tom River, when we got to it,
we found it overflcwing its banks, but we found a place where the banks

was high ard dry, thoug the water was running around them on the lower
bottom, we drove our wagons to the high bank, then fell a large fir tree
acrofs the stream, it just reached the opRosite shor, but the top cf the
ree was too small for a foecd bridge, so we cut crees on the opposite shore,
and fell them on the big tree, by so doing we had a safe foot bridge, we
had swam our stock over on our arri?f] at the River, and by the next
morning had the wagon and the load carried over, and the waqon set up,

and its contents placed in it, so we was ready to start on our way. Our

- pointOf 1n:erest)

was Marys River, this we ferried in canoes, here we
saw the first house that was inhabited. A Bachelor by the name of Avery
had built a small log cabbin, it is the pace where Corvallis is no located.
Seven miles farther on we came to McFullers, he and his family lived at ihis
place. MWe staid all night with them, eating ot ¢ table, and sieeping
sleeping in a house for the first time since leaving old Missouri. The
seccond day after this we crofs the Luckimite, this we ferried in canoes,
the next day. we got to the Recreal- the next to Salt Creck., tha Here we
lept in a house with James Ruggs and family who had crofsed the plains the
year betfore, the next night was spent with Solomon Eads, the last dys drive
was to whire we stoped cur wagon for the last time on this eventful journey.
Afer turning the teams out, we started for Uncle Fnochs place where we

arived on saturdy evening at sundown, and on the 12th day of Debember 1946.

Our jouney is ended, our toilsézeover, but [ have not tried to portray the
terrible conditions we were placed in. No tonge can tell, nor pen deerib
describe the heart rending scenes through which we pafsed. The sicknefs

and deaths, Then to hear children crying tor bread. Falhers mourning becaus

the could not appeas their hinger hunger, Mother,/brokenhearted, and weeping
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for her hungry child though she was emaciated and itafving her self, long
before we reached the Unpqua valley, one half of our train was out of

provisions, and had to depend on thos who was more fortunate. There was

some who divided as long as they had anything to divide, among those that

I remember was Mr Pool Doctor.s Wood and Davis Rev Mr Cornwall, Cap Vanderpoc
Pringle and others. As I said bhefore, we started with an abundance of evry-
thing that was needful, but we divided untill we wuld have been out of pro-
visions within a few days, if our folks from the valley had not came to our
relief. 1 heaXd it said by more than one poor Mother, that if it had not
been for my Mother that their children would have went hungry. She always
had /some breid on hand, and it was a daily occurance for her to send bread
to some poor child that w:]d be crying for something to eat. These troubles

are now in the pafsed, and we will now take up the course of what befel us
as time pafsed on.
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